IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

MAY 16 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 77,886

TOMMY SAAVEDRA

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

WM. J. SHEPPARD
MICHAEL R. YOKAN
Sheppard and White, P.A.
215 Washington Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

THIS ITS WHETHER COURT SHOULD INVOKE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION EXPRESSLP AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN PADRON V. STATE, 328 So.2d 216 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1976), AND WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD INVOKE ITS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW CONSTRUED THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

II.

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD INVOKE TTS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN CARAWAN V. STATE, 515 So.2d 161 (FLA. 1987), AND STATE V. SMITH, 547 So.2d 613 (FLA. 1989), AND WITH THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN SMITH V. STATE, 539 So.2d 601 (3d DCA 1989) AND WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN WADE V. STATE, 368 SO.2D 76 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1979).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the decision below, the First District Court of Appeal in So. 2d _____, 16 F.L.W. 908 (Fla. 1st DCA, Saavedra v. State, April 4, 1991), held that petitioner's fifteen year old son had given valid consent for law enforcement authoritles to enter the petitioner's house. In reaching its decision, the First District Court of Appeal expressly disregarded the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeal in Padron v. State, 328 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). In Padron, the Second District Court of Appeai held that a sixteen year old child does not share common authority over the premises of a common dwelling which a parent provides and shares with his child. Additionally alternatively, the Padron court held that even if a child succeeds to and has authority over the premises in the parent's absence, where the father was present and asserted his rights, his sixteen year old son had no authority to override that assertion.

In express and direct conflict with the Padron decision, the First District Court of Appeal below applied a general consent analysis and found that petitioner's fifteen year old son gave valid consent to police who sought entry to petitioner's home. Accordingly, this court should invoke its discretlonary this jurisdiction to resolve express and direct inter-jurisdictional conflict. Additionally, this court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction because the court below did not consider the impact of a recent United States Supreme Court decision, Illinois v. Rodriguez, U.S. ___, 111 L.Ed.2d 148,

110 S.Ct. 2793 (1990), when it construed the fourth amendment to the United States Constitution.

Petitioner also this Court to invoke its requests discretionary jurisdiction to review another holding of the court below which conflicts with decisions of this Court and with decisions of other district courts of appeal. The district court below disregarded this Court's holding in Carawan v. State, 515 \$0,2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and this Court's holding in State v. Smith, 547 \$0.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), by declining to apply the doctrine of lenity and instead holding the petitioner could be tried and convicted on multiple counts of sexual battery for acts sexual intercourse which occurred during one Likewise, the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below also expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Smith v. State, 539 \$0,2d 601 (3d DCA 1989), which held that multiple punishments are not permitted for the same substantive crime arising from one episode. Furthermore, the decision of the court below expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District court of Appeal in Wade v, State, 368 So.2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), which reversed one of two convictions for sexual battery which stemmed from a single attack.

Accordingly, this court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction and resolve the conflict between the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below and the holdings of this Court and other district courts of appeal.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD INVOKE WHETHER TTS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE **DECISION** EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS ${f WITH}$ DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT CQURT OF IN PADRON V. STATE, 328 **So.2d** 216 APPEAL (FLA. 4TH DCA 1976), AND WHETHER THIS COURT INVOKE ITS JURISDICTION BECAUSE DECISION BELOW CONSTRUED THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Pursuant to Fla_RApp_P , 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) and (iv), this Court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below of the First District Court of Appeal. petitioner was charged and convicted with burglary, kidnapping and three counts of sexual battery for an event which transpired during the early morning hours of June 25, 1987. Following a reported sexual battery, police obtained entrance to the petitioner's house when the petitioner's then fifteen year old son opened the rear door of the house in response to a police officer's knocking. As a result of the warrantless entry by police the petitioner and his co-defendant were arrested. warrantless entry by police also resulted in evidence being seized from petitioner's house and resulted in an impromptu "show-up" identification by the victim. The First District Court of Appeal below, in Saavedra v. State, ___ So.2d ___, 16 F.L.W. 908 (Fla. 1st DCA, April 14, 1991), found that the trial court did not err in finding that petitioner's fifteen year old son's allowing police to enter the petitioner's home was valid consent.

In reaching its conclusion below, the First District Court of Appeal analyzed the impact which the age of an individual has

in judging whether valid consent to enter and search a premises was given. The First District Court of Appeal below rejected the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeal in Padron V. State, 328 So.2d 216 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), wherein the Second District Court of Appeal held that that a minor child does not share cammon authority over the family domicile with his parent, and that even if such common authority does exlst, a child does not have authority to consent to a search of the family home when his parent is present and is refusing consent. The court below reasoned that in light of the petitioner's son's age, physical size, level of education, awareness of what was going on when he answered the door in response to tha police and awareness of his refuse under right to entry that the totality of the circumstances petitioner's son had given valid consent for the warrantless entry. The decision below expressly and directly conflicts With the reasoning of the Padron court and the petitioner accordingly seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv).

In <u>Padron</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed a conviction for second degree murder because the trial court erred in allowing the introduction of a handgun into evidence which had been obtained as the result of a warrantless search. The defendant, in <u>Padron</u> was arrested following a shooting incident. 328 So.2d at 217. Subsequent to his arrest the <u>Padron</u> defendant informed officers that the gun which he had used during the shaoting was in his house but that officers did not have his permission to enter the house. Id. A deputy

sheriff then sought consent to search the defendant's house from the <u>Padron</u> defendant's sixteen year old son, who in turn denied the police permission to search the premises. Id. The deputy sheriff then ordered everyone to vacate the premises, subsequent to which the <u>Padron</u> defendant's sixteen year old son allowed the deputy sheriff to enter the premises. Id.

The <u>Padron</u> court found that a sixteen year old child does not share common authority over the premises of a common dwelling which a parent provides and shares with his child. <u>Id</u>. at 217-18. Additionally and alternatively, the <u>Padron</u> court held that even if it could be assumed that a child succeeds to and has "tantamount authority" over the premises in the parent's absence, "where the father was <u>present</u> and <u>asserted</u> his rights, the son had no authority to override that assertion." <u>Id</u>. at 218 (citations omitted) (emphasis in the original). The <u>Padron</u> court further found that under the facts of that case any consent given by the son could not be held to have been voluntarily given. <u>Id</u>.

Petitioner also seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii), since the court below construed the fourth amendment to the United States Constitution in deciding whether a sixteen year old gave valid consent for entry into his father's home. The petitioner submits that this Court should consider the recent United States Supreme Court case, Illinois v. Rodriguez, _____ U.S. ____, 111 L.Ed.2d 148, 110 S.Ct. 2793 (1990), in deciding whether to grant jurisdiction in this case. The Rodriguez decision dictates that the validity of a third party consent is dependent upon whether

police reasonably believed that the third party had authority to consent to the search. 111 L.Ed.2d at 161. Petitioner submits, that in accord with Rodriguez and Padron, supra, authorities could not reasonably believe that a fifteen year old child had authority over the premises.

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Padron, supra, in that the court below declined to follow the Padron court's consent analysis when a minor's consent to search the family home is at issue and instead applied a general consent analysis. Additionally, this Court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction because the court below construed the fourth amendment to the Constitution of the United States without considering a recent United States Supreme Court decision. It is important that this Court grant jurisdiction because the factual scenario which gave rise to the issues raised below is likely to arise again and because the right of the people of the State of Florida to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures, especially when in their homes, is at issue.

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD INVOKE ITS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN CARAWAN V. STATE, 515 So.2d 1987), AND STATE V. 161 (FLA. 547 So.2d 613 (FLA. 1989), AND WITH THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN SMITH V. STATE, 539 So.2d 601 (3d DCA 1989) AND WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN WADE V. STATE, 368 So.2d 76 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1979).

Pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), this Court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below of the First District Court of Appeal. The opinion below holding that the defendant could be convicted for multiple counts of sexual battery for acts of sexual intercourse stemming from one episode conflicts with both decisions of this Court and with decisions of other district courts of appeal. court below reasoned that three separate offenses occurred during one episode and that double jeopardy principles were thus not implicated. The court below relied on a number of cases holding that different types of criminal acts under \$794.011(1)(g) Fla. Stat. (1987), may justify multiple sexual battery convictions for acts occurring during one episode. Saavedra v. State, 16 F.L.W. at 909. The court below further reasoned that, "[s]patial and temporal aspects are equally as important as distinctions in character and type in determining whether multiple punishments are appropriate." Id.

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). In

Carawan, supra., this Court held that, "where there is a reasonable basis for concluding that the legislature did not intend multiple punishments, the rule of lenity contained in section 775.021(1) and our common law requires that the court find that multiple punishments are impermissible." 515 So.2d at 168. While the Carawan court addressed multiple accusations brought under differing statutory provisions, the holding applies to the instant case and the First District Court of Appeal's statutory interpretation below clearly conflicts with the Carawan holding. The decision below conflicts with the Carawan holding because the First District Court of Appeal below äid not apply the rule of lenity mandated by Carawan and held that multiple punishments were permissible in the petitioner's case.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal below also conflicts with this Court's holding in State v. Smith, supra. In Smith, this Court recognized that the Carawan decision had been legislatively overruled by chapter 88-131, section 7, Laws of Florida. 547 So. 2d at 617. However, this Court went on to hold in smith that the legislative overruling of Carawan, which took effect July 1, 1988, did not have retroactive effect. Id. The First District Court of Appeal below thus interpreted the law contrary to the mandate of this Court's holding in Smith.

Likewise, in <u>smith v. State</u>, 539 So.2d 601 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), the Third District Court of Appeal held that a defendant could not be convicted of both second degree murder with a firearm and possession of a firearm in commission of a felony where both convictions arose out of the same criminal episode.

The Third District Court of Appeal explicitly recognized in Smith, that, "[t]he conviction for possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony is duplications of and may not be permitted to stand in addition to the conviction of the same substantive crime, in this case, second degree murder with a firearm." Id. at 602. In Smith, the Third District Court of Appeal expressly relied on the Carawan decision, and recognized that the amendment to \$775.021(4) Fla. Stat. (1987), should not be applied retroactively. Id. The holding of the First District Court of Appeal below thus expressly and directly conflicts with the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in Smith.

Furthermore, the only case which petitioner has found which is directly on point in that it involved multiple convictions for sexual battery arising out af a single attack is diametrically opposed to the holding of the First District Court of Appeal below. In Wade v. State, 368 So.2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), the court reversed one of two convictions for sexual battery which stemmed from a single attack. The Wade court held that, "[t]he attack constituted only a single violation of the statute," Id. at 77. Accordingly, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Wade, vacated the sentences on both convictions and remanded the case to the trial court for resentencing for a single violation of the statute. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal below thus expressly and directly conflicts with the Wade court's holding.

Accordingly, this Court should invoke its discretionary jurisdiction and resolve the conflict between the decision of the

First District Court of Appeal below and the holdings of this Court in Carawan and Smith, as well as the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in Smith and the holding of Second District Court of Appeal in Wade. It is important that this foregoing conflicts because there Court resolve the are undoubtedly other cases like the petitioner's pending, and others which will arise in the future, whose factual predicates predate the amenament to \$775.021(4) Fla. Stat. (1987), and because even with that amendment the law remains unclear as to when an individual can be convicted for multiple violations of the same statutory provision.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this should Court accept discretionary reivew af the instant cause.