IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUN 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By—Chief Dibuty Clerk

TOMMY SAAVEDRA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 77,886

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY K. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The following facts are taken from the opinion below:

Dusing the early morning hours of June 1987, Jacksonville police officer Robert Benfield received a report that a sexual battery had occurred at Tallulah Avenue. When he arrived at the scene, the victim, K.A., informed him that her assailants lived next door at Avenue. Benfield went to the home described and knocked on the door, but no one answered. The lights out and the house was dark. were Officers McLean and Pease arrived and, 'noking in the windows of the house a flashlight, saw two persons lying The officers then began to on a bed. knock on the side of the house to arouse the occupants.

Officer Benfield went to the rear of the house and knocked on the back door. A boy (lateridentified as appellant's son, Tommy Saavedra, Jr.) appeared at the door. Officer Benfield testified that he identified himself and told the boy that he needed to speak to an adult; that he asked permission to enter; and, that the boy responded "yes" and opened the door. Officer Benfield entered the house and walked into a nearby bedroom, where he found an adult male identified as the co-defendant Teater) and a small boy (,lateridentified as bed. in Benfield asked Teater to get out of the bed and arrested him. Officer Benfield testified that he did not hurry into the house, and did not feel that his life was threatened when he was outside the house. By the time Officer Benfield had arrested Tester, Officers Pease and McLean had entered the house and had arrested appellant whom they found in an adjacent bedroom. Officer McLean also testified that he did not feel that his life was in danger when he secured the outside of the house. Officer Pease testified that when he entered the home after Officer Benfield, the boy at the back door told him he could enter.

The prosecuting witness testified that at approximately 10:30 p.m., there was a power failure in the neighborhood and that she sat on her front porch with her sister. Next door she saw appellant and Teater talking to her brother, her cousin, Tommy Saavedra, Jr., and Robbie When the power failure ended, Methvin. she went next door, got her brother and cousin, Tommy Saavedra, Jr., and Robbie Methvin. When the power failure ended, she went next door, got her brother and her cousin, returned home and thereafter went to bed. At 2:00 a.m., she was awakened by appellant who was kneeling beside her on her bed and shoving something sharp in her side. Appellant and Teater led her from her home to a nearby park. She recognized both defendants throughout the attack, she saw the defendants again in the backseat of the police car; the car light was lit, she was on her front porch, and got a clear look at their faces and identified them as her attackers.

At trial, K.A. testified that her attackers were dressed in black karate suits. They took her to some bushes in the rear of her house, tore off her clothes, pushed her to the gsound and performed vaginal intercourse with her. They then took her to a slide in a park located behind her home and again performed vaginal intercourse. Teater unsuccessfully attempted intercourse. The men led her to a concrete circle in the middle of the again performed park and intercourse. They told her to remain on the ground for ten minutes while they She waited three ar escaped, four minutes and then ran home.

Saavedra v. State, 16 FLW at D908, 909.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should refuse to accept jurisdiction in the instant case because, contrary to Petitioner's assertions, none of the cases cited conflict with the opinion below and the appellate court did not expressly construe a constitutional provision.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ACCEPT DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION IN THIS CASE AS THE OPINION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE CITED CASELAW.

The State respectfully submits that this Honorable Court should refuse to accept discretionary jurisdiction in this case as the **cases** cited by Petitioner do not conflict with the opinion below.

Petitioner first alleges that the opinion below conflicts with <u>Padron v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 216 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The State disagrees.

In <u>Padron</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal recognized that the determination of voluntariness of a consent to search is to be made fram the totality of the circumstances. The defendant in <u>Padron</u> denied consent to the police to search his house. His sixteen year old son similarly denied consent. After being forced out of the house to "protect evidence," late at night with extremely cold temperatures, and with a sick younger brother, the sixteen year old finally consented to the search.

The court held that:

In the instant case, under the totality of the circumstances mentioned above, we most respectfully disagree with the trial court's conclusion that the consent did "nat constitute a yielding to the majesty of the law by

the defendant's son, but rather a yielding by the officer to the desires of the defendant's san not to leave the premises." If the deputy's true motive was the protection of the evidence, there were available to him alternatives other than ordering all of the occupants out of the house on an extremely cold night. Requiring the son to make a choice between permitting the search or the unreasonable alternative (under these circumstances) of evacuating the house effectively stripped his "consent" of any voluntary character.

Padron, supra at 218.

In contrast, the factual scenario in the instant case presents no evidence of coercive police action, nor was the parent's express refusal to consent to a search ignored in favor of the child's consent. As in <u>Padson</u>, the court below examined the totality of the circumstances and achieved a different result because the circumstances were different.

As <u>Padron v. State</u>, is not in conflict with the opinion below, <u>Padron</u> offers no basis for "conflict" jurisdiction.

Petitioner next contends that this Court should assume jurisdiction of this case because the court below construed the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. A review of the opinion below, however, reveals that this contention is false. The appellate court cited to U.S. Supreme Court cases which construe the Fourth Amendment, but the court below merely examined the applicable caselaw and engaged in no constitutional construction of its own. This provides no basis for jurisdiction pursuant to Rule

9.030(2)(A)(ii), Fla.R.App.P., which requires that a court must expressly construe a canstitutional provision in order to confer jurisdiction upon this Court.

Petitioner further argues that the court below should have considered the case of Illinois v. Rodriquez, 497 U.S.

——, 111 L.Ed.2d 148, 110 S.Ct. 2793 (1990), but Respondent would point out that <a href=Rodriquez involved the warrantless entry into an apartment based on the consent of a nonresident third party, which is distinguishable from the consent in this case given by a resident relative. Even so, the Court held that a consent search is not unreasonable if police reasonably believe that the person giving the consent possessed common authority over the premises, and the facts of the instant case show that the police possessed this reasonable belief.

Petitioner next contends that the opinion below conflicts with <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Carawan</u>, this Court held that multiple punishments cannat be predicated upon a single act. The defendant in <u>Carawan</u> was convicted under three separate statutes for firing a single shotgun blast. In contrast Petitioner was convicted of separate and distinct acts of rape which occurred during a single ongoing transaction. Not only is <u>Carawan</u> factually distinguishable from the opinion below, but as the appellate court correctly determined in its original opinion in this case; "We find further that <u>Carawan</u>, <u>supra</u>, does not apply

because its holding is limited to 'separate punishments arising from one act, not one transaction.'" 15 FLW D2732, 34 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 8, 1990).

<u>Carawan v. State</u> thus provides no basis for "conflict" jurisdiction.

Similarly, Petitioner's reliance on State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989) is misplaced. Petitioner cites Smith for the proposition that the legislative enactment which overruled Carawan (Chapter 88-131, Section 7, Laws of Florida) is not to be retroactively applied to offenses occurring before the effective date of Chapter 88-131. Respondent asserts that because Carawan does not apply to the instant case and does not conflict with the opinion below, Smith does not apply here and offers no basis for "conflict" jurisdiction.

Smith v. State, 539 So.2d 601 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), was a case whose result was based on <u>Carawan</u>, and is thus inapplicable.

Finally, Petitioner argues that the opinion below conflicts with <u>Wade v. State</u>, **386** So.2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). Regarding Wade, the court below stated:

Appellant's reliance on <u>Wade v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, appears to us misplaced. In that case, the defendant was convicted of two separate violations of the sexual battery statute for a single attack on the victim. The Fourth **DCA** held that the attack constituted only a single

violation of the statute, and vacated convictions and remanded with instructions for the trial court to resentence for only violation. one However, the Wade court did not articulate the underlying facts which it relied upon in making its determination that the attack constituted only a single sexual battery. Therefore, we do not find <u>Wade</u> particularly helpful in analyzing the facts at hand.

Saavedra, supra at D909, 910. It is clear that because the court in <u>Wade</u> failed to provide any factual background to explain its ruling and failed to construe the meaning of "single attack", that there is no basis for finding that <u>Wade</u> conflicts with the opinion below.

As none af the cases cited by Petitioner conflict with the opinion below and as the court below did not expressly construe a canstitutional provision, Respondent submits that this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments, Respondent respectfully urges this Honorable Court to decline accepting jurisdiction in this case.